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DESCRIPTION  

 
Local Historic District: Uptown  

State Cultural District: Magazine Street Gallery 

Federal Historic District: Uptown 

Built: 1925, three-story concrete and brick commercial structure 

Style:  Neoclassical Commercial 

Business Timeline: 

1925-1935 Car dealership: Jefferson Motor Company; Menger – Fisher Motor Company; Fairchild 

1935-1954 Bakery: Mother’s Home-Made Pies; Mother’s Bakery 

1958-present Hardware store: Harry’s Hardware  

 

 

This three-story concrete and brick structure is an unusual building among its double shot gun neighbors. 

When this section of Magazine street developed in earnest during the late 19th century the two parcels which 

now hold 3535 Magazine matched their neighbors, occupied by a pair of single-story double shotgun houses. 

For several blocks in either direction this section of Magazine Street was largely residential, but as the early 

20th century progressed many institutions and business began to occupy the residential structures.  

 

Jefferson Motor Company (JMC) got its start in Gretna, an automobile friendly town where motorized 

transportation was seen as a necessity to getting around the largely rural West Bank. They sold Ford cars, 

trucks, and tractors.  The company quickly shifted its sights to New Orleans proper in 1924, setting up shop at 

1030 Louisiana Ave while the new building was being constructed at Magazine and Foucher.  As a way to set 

themselves apart in the early car market JMC advertised “gold seal service” which offered 24-hour shop 

service for Ford owners.  

 

These early dealerships where showpieces of the popular architectural styles of the time, displaying the car in 

interior showrooms visible through large picture windows to the sidewalk, in bustling downtown commercial 

corridors of the time. These early dealerships were geared toward the pedestrian, unlike the massive lots filled 

with shiny new cars, of today, which needs to appeal to fast moving vehicular traffic, these early buyers where 

often walking in to buying their first car.  

 

The Jefferson Motor Company’s new structure would inhabit those early ideals of car dealership architecture 

with a three-story fire-proof structure, which towered over the adjacent buildings. The ground floor, with its 

large picture windows held the showroom, the upper portion of the building was devoted to service 

departments and “stock” including additional vehicles which were transported up and down on a large, car 

sized elevator at the rear of the building with an access door off Foucher, (this elevator is still in use today). 

The building was designed in a Neoclassical style by Weiss & Dreyfous Inc., Architects and constructed by R.P. 

Farnsworth and Company, General Contractors. It was boasted in the New Orleans State newspaper that the 

“building will be rushed to completion in about ninety days” in reality it took about 5 months with the grand 

opening being pushed back from June 15th to July 1st.  

 



 
New Orleans Item Jan 31, 1925 

 

The building only served at a Ford dealership for 10 years, from 1925-1935 it was then leased by Mother’s 

Home-Made Pie Shop, owned by Ben and Margaret Perkowski a first- and second-generation immigrant couple 

from Poland. They opened a restaurant in New Orleans shortly after their marriage in 1920 that quickly failed 

but one item from the restaurant that was extremely popular was Mrs. Perkowski’s pies. So the couple 

decided to focus their energy on baking with a small operation at 2628 Magazine selling mostly to restaurants, 



they expanded their business to a larger home at 1050 Carondelet and finally to the large commercial space at 

what was then 3523 Magazine.  By the time they had made the final move their offerings had expanded 

beyond pies to cakes, pastries and breads sold in restaurants and grocery stores throughout New Orleans. The 

Perkowskis brought many family members to New Orleans to work in the bakery and eventually purchased the 

building.   

 

When the bakery closed in 1953 a notice in the New Orleans State listing the contents for auction shows what 

a large operation Mother’s had become, some of the items included 6 delivery trucks, a 600 lbs. capacity 

dough mixer, and a bread wrapping machine that could wrap up to 45 loaves a minute.   

 

 
New Orleans State July 20, 1953 

 

After sitting vacant for a few years Harry’s Hardware leased the building from the Perkowski family in 1958. 

Harry’s Hardware was owned by Harry Offner at its original location 326 S. Rampart until his death in 1951. His 

sons-in-law took over the family business and moved it to 3535 Magazine. 

 



 
Times-Picayune Dec 8, 1961 

 

Over the years the business has expanded to other locations in Old Metairie and the West Bank but this 

building on Magazine has always been its flagship location. During Harry’s 60+ years here some changes have 

been made to the exterior of the building. The windows and garage door on the Foucher St side were filled in 

as well as the garage door on the one-story section on the Aline St side of the front façade and a canvas 

awning has been added which does obscure some of its original Neoclassical details but in large part the 

building stands much as it did in 1925. Still standing out next to its neighbors but very much an integral part of 

the fabric of the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

HISTORIC PHOTOGRAPHS 
(All documents within this report are the property of multiple archival institutions and may require further permission to 

be copied or published. Please consult Gates Preservation prior to distributing any copies of this report or 

publishing/printing any photographs/documents within this report.) 

 

 
Approx. late 1940s-1950s 

Family photo provided by Dianne Perkowski 

  



 
    3523-29 Magazine Street. Published date: 1958-11-31 

    The Historic New Orleans Collection/Charles L. Franck and Franck-Bertacci Photograph Collections 

     “View of a three-story masonry building with frosted-over plate-glass windows.  

Photograph commissioned by Latter & Blum.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



SANBORN INSURANCE MAPS 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Sanborn's Insurance Maps 1896 

 



 
Sanborn's Insurance Maps 1908 

 

 

 

 



 
Sanborn's Insurance Maps 1937 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



NEWSPAPER SOURCES  
 

 
New Orleans State March 16, 1924 
 

 
New Orleans State May 18, 1924 



 
Times picayune Dec 23, 1924 

 

 
New Orleans State Dec 28, 1924 

 

 



 
New Orleans State Jan 5, 1925 

 



 
New Orleans Item Jan 31, 1925 

 

 
New Orleans State Feb 1, 1925 



 
New Orleans Item April 9, 1925 

 

 
Times picayune May 10, 1925 

 



 
Times picayune May 31, 1925 

 

 
New Orleans State Jun 14, 1925 

 



 
New Orleans Item July 12, 1925 

 

 
New Orleans Item Feb 1, 1927 

 



 
New Orleans State Sept 13, 1929 

 

 
New Orleans Item Dec 2, 1934 

 

 



 
Times picayune Jan 1, 1926 

 



 
Dates Unknown Provided by Dianne Perkowski 



 

 
Times picayune July 28, 1935 

 

 
New Orleans Item Feb 26, 1936 



 
New Orleans Item Jan 6, 1939 

 

 
Times picayune April 30, 1949 

 



 
New Orleans State July 20, 1953 

 

 
Times picayune July 12, 1959 



 
Times picayune Aug 31, 1959 

 

 
New Orleans States-Item Oct 26, 1960 

 

 
New Orleans States-Item Nov 1, 1960 

 



 
Times picayune April 28, 1961 

 

 
Times picayune Dec 8, 1961 



 
New Orleans States-Item Jan 18, 1966 

 

 


